
Generated on: 2022-11-19 15:03:22

Powered by BoardPro 1

AGENDA
CANTERBURY MAYORAL FORUM

Name: Canterbury Mayoral Forum

Date: Friday, 25 November 2022

Time: 8:30 am  to  2:30 pm (NZDT)

Location: Commodore Hotel, 449 Memorial Avenue, Burnside, Christchurch

Board Members: Anne Munro, Craig Rowley, Craig  Mackle, Dan Gordon, Gary Kircher, Marie 
Black, Neil Brown, Nigel Bowen, Peter Scott, Phil Mauger, Sam Broughton

Attendees: Alex  Parmley, Angela Oosthuizen, Bede  Carran, David Ward, Dawn 
Baxendale, Hamish Dobbie, Hamish  Riach, Jim  Harland, Stefanie  Rixecker, 
Stuart  Duncan, Will  Doughty, Amanda Wall, Maree McNeilly, Rosa 
Wakefield

Guests/Notes: Dr Tim Davie; Chair Climate Change Working Group (Item 4.2)
John Hutchings, Director, Hutch Consulting; and Leigh Griffiths; General 
Manager Operations, Environment Canterbury (Item 4.4)
Caroline Hart, Nadeine Dommisse, Jennifer Hutcheon; Ministry for the 
Environment (Item 4.5)
Ben Clark, Regional Public Service Commissioner (Item 4.6)

1. Opening meeting

1.1 Karakia, welcome, introductions and apologies 8:30 am (5 min)
Hamish  Riach
Canterbury Mayoral Forum karakia
Ko Ngā Tiritiri o te Moana ngā maunga
Ko ngā wai huka ngā awa i rere tonu mai
Ko Ngā Pākihi Whakatekateka o Waitaha te whenua
Ko Marokura, ko Mahaanui, ko Araiteuru ngā tai
Tīhei mauri ora!
 
The Southern Alps stand above
The snow-fed rivers continually flow forth
The plains of Waitaha extend out
To the tides of Marokura, Mahaanui and Araiteuru
Behold, there is life!

1.2 Confirmation of agenda 8:35 am (5 min)
Hamish  Riach

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

4



Agenda : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

Powered by BoardPro 2

1.3 Minutes from the previous meeting 8:40 am (5 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
1.3.a Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022  

1.4 Action List 8:45 am (5 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
1.4.a Action List  

2. For discussion

2.1 Selection of chair and deputy chair 8:50 am (5 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
2.1.a CMF Selection of chair and deputy chair Nov 2022.docx  

2.2 Introduction to the Canterbury Mayoral Forum 8:55 am (30 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
2.2.a CMF Introduction to the Canterbury Mayoral Forum Nov 2022.docx  

2.3 Canterbury Local Authorities' Triennium Agreement 9:25 am (15 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
2.3.a CMF Canterbury Local Authorities' Triennium Agreement Nov 2022.docx  
2.3.b Canterbury Local Authorities' Triennium Agreement Nov 2022 attachment 1 - Draft 

triennial agreement 2022-2025.docx
 

2.4 Regional Forums structure and 2023 calendar 9:40 am (5 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
2.4.a CMF Regional Forums structure and 2023 calendar Nov 2022.docx  
2.4.b CMF Regional Forums structure and 2023 calendar Nov 2022 attachment 1.pptx  
2.4.c CMF Regional Forums structure and 2023 calendar Nov 2022 attachment 2.docx  

3. Morning tea & photos

3.1 Morning tea 9:45 am (20 min)

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

5



Agenda : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

Powered by BoardPro 3

3.2 Mayoral Forum and Chief Executives Forum photos
10:05 am (20 

min)

4. For discussion

4.1 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Forum's Plan for Canterbury) 10:25 am (45 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
4.1.a CMF Regional Stratgegy (Mayoral Forum's Plan for Canterbury) Nov 2022.docx  

4.2 Regional climate change action planning 11:10 am (10 min)
Dr Tim Davie, Chair Climate Change Working Group

Supporting Documents:  
4.2.a CMF Regional climate change action planning Nov 2022.docx  

4.3 Canterbury Water Management Strategy background and 
update

11:20 am (10 
min)

Peter Scott

Supporting Documents:  
4.3.a CMF Canterbury Water Management Strategy background and update Nov 2022.docx  
4.3.b CMF Canterbury Water Management Strategy background and update Nov 2022 

attachment 1.pdf
 

4.3.c CMF Canterbury Water Management Strategy background and update Nov 2022 
attachment 2.docx

 

4.4 Central government co-investment in river management for 
flood protection

11:30 am (15 
min)

Peter Scott, John Hutchings and Leigh Griffiths

Supporting Documents:  
4.4.a CMF Central government co-investment in river management for flood protection Nov 

2022.docx
 

4.5 Resource Management Reform 11:45 am (30 min)
Nadeine Dommisse, Jennifer Hutcheon and Caroline Hart, MfE
There is no paper for this item. 

4.6 Regional Public Service Commissioner update 12:15 pm (15 min)
Ben Clark

Supporting Documents:  
4.6.a CMF Regional Public Service Commissioner update Nov 2022.docx  
4.6.b CMF Regional Public Service Commissioner update Attachment 1 Nov 2022.docx  
4.6.c CMF Regional Public Service Commissioner update Attachment 2 Nov 2022.pptx  

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

6



Agenda : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

Powered by BoardPro 4

Supporting Documents:  
4.6.d CMF Regional Public Service Commissioner update attachment 3 Nov 2022.pdf  

5. Lunch

5.1 Lunch 12:30 pm (60 min)

6. For discussion

6.1 Future for Local Government update 1:30 pm (20 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
6.1.a CMF Future for Local Government update Nov 2022.docx  
6.1.b CMF Future for Local Government update Nov 2022 attachment 1.docx  

6.2 Three Waters Reform 1:50 pm (20 min)
Chair
There is no paper for this item. 

6.3 Chief Executives Forum report 2:10 pm (5 min)
Hamish  Riach

Supporting Documents:  
6.3.a CMF Chief Executives Forum report Nov 2022.docx  
6.3.b CMF Chief Executives Forum report Nov 2022 attachment 1 - Regional Forums Three 

Year Work Programme.pdf
 

7. For information

7.1 Mayoral Forum activities and engagements
Supporting Documents:  
7.1.a CMF Activities and engagements Nov 2022.docx  
7.1.b CMF Activities and engagements Nov 2022 attachment 1a - 9 Sep 2022 draft 

minutes.pdf
 

7.1.c CMF Activities and engagements Nov 2022 attachment 1b - 21 Sep 2022 draft 
minutes.docx

 

7.1.d CMF Activities and engagements Nov 2022 attachment 2a - Kaikōura South Bay 
Harbour Development.pdf

 

7.1.e CMF Activities and engagements Nov 2022 attachment 2b - letter to David Ayers and 
Jim Palmer Sep 2022.pdf

 

7.1.f CMF Activities and engagements Nov 2022 attachment 2c - CEF letter and invitation to 
Health NZ Oct 2022.pdf

 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

7



Agenda : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

Powered by BoardPro 5

8. General business

8.1 General business 2:15 pm (10 min)

9. Close Meeting

9.1 Meeting review 2:25 pm (5 min)

9.2 Close the meeting
Next meeting: Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 24 Feb 2023, 8:30 am

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022

8



Generated on: 2022-11-17 14:51:35

Powered by BoardPro 1

MINUTES (in Review)
CANTERBURY MAYORAL FORUM

Name: Canterbury Mayoral Forum

Date: Friday, 26 August 2022

Time: 8:30 am  to  12:16 pm (NZST)

Location: Peppers Clearwater Resort, Clearwater Avenue, Harewood, Christchurch

Board Members: Sam Broughton, Craig Rowley, Craig  Mackle, Dan Gordon, Gary Kircher, 
Graham Smith, Lianne Dalziel, Marie Black, Neil Brown, Nigel Bowen

Attendees: Alex  Parmley, Angela Oosthuizen, David Ward, Dawn Baxendale, Hamish 
Dobbie, Hamish  Riach, Jeff Millward, Stefanie  Rixecker, Stuart  Duncan, Will  
Doughty, Maree McNeilly, Amanda Wall, Rosa Wakefield, Sean Tully

Apologies: Jenny Hughey, Bede  Carran

Guests/Notes: Peter Scott, Deputy Chair, Environment Canterbury (for Jenny Hughey)
Jennifer Hutcheon, Chief Advisor, Reform Implementation, and Liz Moncrieff, 
Director RM Reform, Ministry for the Environment 
Dianne McDermott, Regional Public Service Commissioner and Eamon 
Coulter, Director Regional Public Service

Apologies: 
Paul Stocks, Regional Economic Development Senior Official; Warren 
Gilbertson, Kānoa, MBIE

1. Opening meeting

1.1 Karakia, welcome, introductions and apologies
The chair welcomed everyone to the last meeting of the Mayoral Forum for this Triennium.
Apologies were noted from Jenny Hughey, who has Peter Scott stepping in for her, and from Bede 
Carran. A late apology was also received from Paul Stocks, who was to attend for item 2.6.
Members joined in karakia to start the meeting. 

1.2 Confirmation of agenda
The agenda was confirmed with one item of general business: 

 Environment Canterbury will provide an update on the Central Government Co-investment 
in River Management for Flood Protection report by Basil Chamberlain. 

 

1.3 Minutes from the previous meeting

Canterbury Mayoral Forum 27 May 2022, the minutes were confirmed as presented.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

9



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 2

1.4 Action List
The outstanding actions relate to the meeting with Rob Campbell, Chair Health NZ. The secretariat 
will continue to follow up with Health NZ.

2. For discussion

2.1 Resource management reform - model region discussion
The chair welcomed Liz Moncrieff and Jennifer Hutcheon to the meeting, noting that this is an 
opportunity to have a conversation about the Model Regions Project and get more information to 
inform discussions about whether this is something that Canterbury may wish to pursue. 
Liz advised that MfE is still expecting legislation to be introduced in October, but there is still a lot 
of work required between now and then to enable this. She noted that there is an issue before the 
Waitangi Tribunal currently which will inform who is identified in legislation as Māori, which will 
impact on representation for joint committees and many other situations. The policy approach has 
been that iwi/hapū initiate conversation with Māori representation in the area; this is currently 
written into plans as mana whenua and iwi management plans recognise status. Other Māori may 
not be represented by iwi/hapū. This decision will determine whether further work is needed on the 
legislation. Time is also required for Treaty partners to consider the findings of the Tribunal.
MfE has been looking at how to work with councils and how the model region project might be 
managed. There is an indicative timeline of the end of 2022 for the model regions to be identified. 
MfE is keen to understand how well-advanced freshwater reforms are in different regions. 
Members discussed their thoughts on participating in the model region project, including: 

 all members noting concerns that staff are stretched and may not or do not have capacity 
to support this

 the strong desire for a sub-regional approach which could start with Greater Christchurch, 
and encouragement for MfE to ask the Minister to reconsider his approach to this

 that Greater Christchurch has a fully integrated urban spatial planning framework, different 
from the region – it is important to consider how this might interrelate 

 the desire to have the NPS-FM processes confirmed to provide certainty around the future 
for farm plans

 the importance of these reforms and desire for Canterbury to be a first mover and provide 
leadership

 concern that the focus has been on a structural, individual reform programme without 
integration with civil defence, three waters, and climate change reforms

 the need for resource to be provided to those who are part of the model regions, noting that 
resource does not just mean finance

 the need to ensure model regions are structured well with the right people in the structure
 frustration at the process around the NPS-UD and lack of consultation or warning, and 

without a link to the NPS-HPL
 concern around how a dual model will operate through the transition period
 the importance for all councils to be involved collectively, and not for the work to be done 

by the regional council alone
 concern about resource degradation during the course of the reform
 the need for councils and communities to be informed before any decisions are made
 the struggle with the pace of reform and the need for this to be done well
 the opportunity to forge closer partnerships with rūnanga around what they want

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

10



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 3

 the need for detailed information on the reforms to be provided to councils, and whether a 
working group could be put in place to ensure information around options, resourcing, 
opportunity and impact are able to be effectively shared

 the strong position and connections of this group to be a model region. 
Peter spoke to Environment Canterbury’s progress on freshwater reforms, noting the close work 
with papatipu rūnanga on partnership. It has been made clear that Te Mana o te Wai will be river 
by river. He noted the framework the CWMS provides. Environment Canterbury has started a 
conversation with Southland, Otago and West Coast about the takiwā, noting the critical need to 
work with Ngāi Tahu on this. 
Members noted progress on district plans. 
Stefanie spoke to the group, noting: 

 the power of this group, the influence it has had in leading the CWMS and supporting rural 
communities to make significant progress on freshwater improvement, and that 
strategically it makes sense for this group to be first

 the need for MfE to provide the group with insight into how we should be leaders
 the need to honour the treaty settlement with Ngāi Tahu, given our position in their takiwā, 

noting that every council has relationships with Ngāi Tahu and has been working on 
progressing those

 that Waitangi 2358 refers to Māori groups, and that Ngāi Tahu feel they are the group that 
represent the freshwater resource for their takiwā. If Ngāi Tahu does not agree with the 
tribunal decision, councils will be stuck between the Crown requiring one thing and mana 
whenua requiring another. The Ministry needs to ensure this does not land in a way that 
causes divide

 the importance of multiple key acts, including the Local Government Act, and the 
requirements of the Act to work with multiple iwi representatives

 disagreement with the Minister saying that these are not structural reforms of local 
government

 the tension between the desire for more housing and development and the reality of 
protecting our environment, and the need for MfE’s policy design to provide clarity on how 
this is done, while ensuring that the three pieces of legislation and the national planning 
framework are aligned in terms of content

 the importance of the Climate Change Adaptation Act in terms of managed retreat 
 that operationally we have been resistant to being a model region because members don’t 

have the information they need to make an informed decision
 that the regional committee will not be the regional council, but would likely have one 

regional council member, along with mana whenua, and possibly a local government 
representative

 the need to understand who chooses members for the regional committee
 that a directorate will create regional committees and then staff will be seconded into these, 

and regional plans will be developed by these committees – councils in the model regions 
will need to know how much money central government is providing and how this is split 
over councils to inform their long-term plan and annual plan

 that Ngāi Tahu are tired of spending their settlement delivering on central government 
planning processes and will also require funding and resourcing; without this we are 
eroding the settlement process

 that rural communities have spent over $120m working to resolve essential freshwater 
issues, resulting in one of the best outcomes in the country

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

11



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 4

 the need for clarity on timing of the model region project starting, given the requirement for 
essential freshwater to be done by 2024 and for GCP to complete their spatial plan in the 
next year

 that Environment Canterbury has been working closely with ngā rūnanga on water 
management and is close to having this landed

 the need for clarity on funding and resources
 the importance of partnership, strategy, outcomes, funding, and clarity of decision-making
 the importance of ongoing kōrero with Ngāi Tahu throughout this process.

Jen and Liz responded to members, including: 
 asking what the scope of resourcing that is needed might look like. The chair responded 

that this should detail expected cost, time, people hours, and what is left for councils
 noting that the policy approach for who in Māori participates in various parts of the process 

has included consulting with the Freshwater Iwi Leaders Group for an iwi perspective, and 
Te Tai Kaha for a perspective from groups of Māori not bound together by iwi/hapū 
process. We need to wait for the Tribunal’s decision on this, which is expected on 2 
September. The Crown has already agreed to uphold settlements into the new system

 that there is an opportunity for every council to have a representative on the joint 
committee, and that it is up to councils to decide whether to put forward a representative. 
Districts that sit across regional boundaries could choose to be on one or both

 that MfE is working to establish a mechanism to provide detailed information to councils on 
options. 

 MfE will put together a solid response to issues raised and will come back to the Forum to 
talk through issues and options. 

The chair thanked Jen and Liz for attending. 

MfE to respond to issues raised at August Mayoral Forum

MfE to provide a response to issues made at the Mayoral Forum, and will 
arrange to meet with the Forum again, potentially at a standalone meeting 
before November. 
10/11: MfE will be attending the Mayoral Forum on 25 November. 
Due Date: 30 Nov 2022
Owner: Maree McNeilly

Decision

The Forum agreed to note the information in this paper to support the 
discussion with the Ministry for the Environment. 
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Nigel Bowen
Seconder: Neil Brown
Outcome: Approved

2.2 2022-2025 Draft Triennium Agreement and briefings to incoming 
members

Hamish Riach spoke to the paper, asking if the briefing covers what members would expect to be 
included. 
Members discussed: 

 the need to brief new members on the purpose of the Forum, and how their leadership role 
as member of the Forum is serving the region in a way that is separate from their 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

12



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 5

leadership role within their councils, and the importance of this group in achieving things for 
Waitaha / Canterbury

 how councillors sometimes struggle to understand the role of the Mayoral Forum, and the 
need to brief councillors as well as Forum members

 that inducting mayors to the Forum alongside council inductions doesn’t necessarily fit well
 whether some CEs from might lead a local induction process (or segment of the council 

induction) to ensure councils understand the role of the Mayoral Forum, and of their mayor 
at the Mayoral Forum. It was noted that it could be helpful for this message to come from 
the CE of another council 

 that it would be useful to have the achievements document separately to share with 
councillors

 that some members brief their councils following meetings. It was noted that meeting packs 
and a summary of meetings are shared on the Mayoral Forum website following every 
meeting, and that this can be shared with councillors if members wish. 

Action

Share the achievements document separately with members to share with their 
councils. 
31 August - document emailed to Mayors & CEs
Due Date: 2 Sep 2022
Owner: Maree McNeilly

Decision

The Forum agreed to: 
1. approve the documents prepared to brief incoming members of the 

Mayoral Forum following local body elections on 8 October 2022 
a. draft Triennial Agreement 2023-2025
b. briefing to incoming Mayoral Forum members (BIM) 
c. record of Mayoral Forum achievements 

2. note the updated Canterbury 2022: An Overview 
3. note the first meeting of the incoming Mayoral Forum meeting will be 

held on Friday 25th November.
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Craig  Mackle
Seconder: Graham Smith
Outcome: Approved

2.3 Engagement with Te Whatu Ora Health New Zealand
The paper was taken as read. 
Gary noted that he hasn’t heard from Rob yet but has met with Minister Little in Oamaru, and had 
a visit from Pasifika Director of Health from Ministry of Health to try to bring a greater Pasifika 
presence throughout the health system. He is also attending a meeting on locality meetings this 
afternoon. 

Decision

The Forum agreed to note the information in the paper on the Pae Ora (Healthy 
Futures) Act and Te Whatu Ora Health New Zealand. 
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Dan Gordon

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

13



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 6

Seconder: Marie Black
Outcome: Approved

2.4 Regional Public Service Commissioner update
Taken at 10.50am. 
The chair welcomed Dianne McDermott and Eamon Coulter to the meeting. Dianne spoke to the 
update, noting that they have visited 9 councils to discuss the five priorities. These did resonate 
and councils raised a range of issues to be considered. They also visited several of the rūnanga 
who provided additional views. They are now working through collating these views and how these 
can be formed into a work plan to make the biggest impact for the communities we serve, and will 
present these to the next Forum. Further work will then be done to look at how these connect 
across agencies and who will be accountable for each piece. 
They are also coordinating several national strategies and looking at how these cross over the five 
priorities, e.g. the Oranga Tamariki action plan is providing interesting insight into system gaps 
around housing. 
Members discussed their wish to understand what is happening for the region and whose role it 
will be to fulfil needs, and that councils know their communities and what they need and that it 
would be good to start with this. Dianne noted that there is a strong focus on local and regional 
consultation. 
Concern about mental illness and pressure on MSD given recessionary pressures was noted, 
along with the need for measuring of this and response to it to be at the local level. Dianne noted 
that mental health is an area of focus, and the importance of other aspects of community in 
supporting mental wellbeing. 
Members discussed the opportunity for the Regional Public Service Commissioner to be a funnel 
coming out of central government and provide the Forum with an opportunity to provide opinions 
and have impact. Dianne agreed and noted that the Regional Leadership Group does escalate 
issues, and that issues and needs can only come from the bottom up. 
The priorities that have been identified speak to having a place of belonging, and it was noted that 
when this is lost family harm is escalated, and that feeling anchored in a community is key. 
Councils need to consider this in infrastructure planning. 
Dianne advised that if members would like an update from MSD at the next meeting on the Royal 
Commission of Inquiry into Abuse in State Care she is happy to provide one. She noted that Ben 
will be back in the role next month.

Decision

The Forum agreed to receive the Regional Public Service Commissioner 
update. 
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Graham Smith
Seconder: Neil Brown
Outcome: Approved

2.5 Morning tea

2.6 Regional Economic Development Senior Regional  Official
This item was not considered as Paul was unable to attend the meeting. 

2.7 Education and training governance
Taken at 8.36am. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

14



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 7

Dan Gordon spoke to the paper, noting that this was discussed at the previous meeting, and that 
the Education and Training Governance Group has achieved its purpose with the RSLG having 
been established. The concern that not all groups were represented at RSLG has been resolved, 
with Ara now involved. The RSLG co-chairs are keen to visit the Forum once or twice a year to 
keep members informed of work. The Education and Training Governance Group will have a final 
meeting and formally hand its work over to RSLG. 
The chair noted that the sector and vocational education piece was explained well at Zone 5, and 
noted that we will continue to try to visit Ara in the next term. 

Decision

The Forum agreed to:
1. endorse the disestablishment of the Mayoral Forum’s Education and 

Training Governance Group at the end of this local government term
2. recommend to the incoming Mayoral Forum that it invite the Regional 

Skills Leadership Group co-chairs to attend the Mayoral Forum annually 
to provide an update on key education and skills issues for the region.

 
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Dan Gordon
Seconder: Marie Black
Outcome: Approved

3. For discussion

3.1 Reflections on the 2019-22 term
Taken at 11.45am, at the conclusion of the meeting.
Members shared reflections of the term, noting:
- fellowship and collegiality
- friendship
- trust
- integrity
- global view across region
- collaboration
- the opportunity to make meaningful change as leaders of Canterbury
- the excellent support of the secretariat
- thanks and regards to outgoing members. 
Lianne and Graham gave valedictory speeches.
The Forum presented gifts to Lianne, Graham and Jenny.

4. Lunch

4.1 Lunch

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

15



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 8

5. For information

5.1 Climate Change Steering Group update
Taken at 8.39am.
Dan Gordon spoke to the paper, noting that there was a desire for the regional adaptation planning 
work to progress more quickly, but that the Climate Change Steering Group also accepts the 
resource constraints within organisations. 
It was noted that while the number of climate related weather events is increasing, each council is 
responsible for individual incidents, and this group is about the broader planning. 
The need for links into central government was noted, and Dan noted the Forum’s need to take the 
lead on communicating work being done. It was noted that there is a need for clarity around the 
various streams of central government reform (NEMA/civil defence reform, climate change, land 
use planning in RMA reform, stormwater and flood management issues relating to urban and rural 
environments), and that all these things need to be joined up. 
The chair noted the importance of thinking through how all council work impacts on these bigger 
issues and encouraged members to ensure climate change considerations are noted on all papers 
to council. 

Decision

The Forum agreed to note the update provided on the activities of the Climate 
Change Steering Group since the last Mayoral Forum meeting in May 2022.
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Craig  Mackle
Seconder: Craig Rowley
Outcome: Approved

5.2 Coordinating regional economic development
Marie Black spoke to the paper, noting that the group has considered its focus and believe it would 
be better to establish a working group reporting to the Chief Executives Forum. The CEs would 
then report to the Mayoral Forum. 
Will spoke to the South Bay harbour business case, acknowledging this came out of PGF funding, 
and that the work started under Angela. The business case provides opportunities in marine 
research with universities in New Zealand and overseas, as well as supporting potential further 
growth of Ngāi Tahu’s Whale Watch. The project will need central government funding to progress, 
so Kaikōura is seeking regional backing in seeking this. 
It was noted that this is big not just for our community but Canterbury as a whole.

Action

Send video around harbour development to secretariat to share with 
members.

31 August - video sent to all members of Mayoral & CE Forum by secretariat

Due Date: 1 Sep 2022
Owner: Maree McNeilly

Decision

The Forum agreed to:
1. note that the Chief Executives Forum has established a regional 

economic development working group to support the Mayoral Forum

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

16



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 9

2. agree to write a letter of support from the Mayoral Forum for the 
Kaikōura District Council’s South Bay Harbour business case.

Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Marie Black
Seconder: Craig Rowley
Outcome: Approved

5.3 Canterbury Water Management Strategy update
Peter Scott spoke to the paper, noting the support from the mayors on this over the triennium. He 
noted the significant piece of work around Ōtūwharekai Lakes and the collaboration from all the 
agencies and parties involved, and the strong commitment from staff and councillors on this issue. 
The process was bespoke for the issue but has shown how we can step into these spaces, have 
these conversations, opportunity to understand what we can do when we have decent 
conversations with people.
Hamish Riach noted that Ashburton District Council was only able to support one specific aspect 
of this work, replacing long-drop toilets, but that gathering people to resolve that issue helped with 
momentum for the wider piece of work. It is proud of its role and the traction that has been 
achieved with Environment Canterbury’s support. 
The Ngāi Tahu legislation has been passed into law, so Environment Canterbury will now have 16 
councillors around the table. There have been a range of views, but Environment Canterbury has 
been clear that this is about Canterbury and what works here. 
The chair thanked Peter and Stefanie for their work on the Ngāi Tahu bill. Challenge to all of us on 
what steps our councils should take. 
The regional zone committee has had some establishment issues and has not yet met. This will be 
addressed in the next triennium with the new council. 
It was noted that farmers haven’t been able to report on nitrogen cap because the portal hasn’t 
been set up. Stefanie apologised that the regional council didn’t communicate better on this and 
noted that MfE hasn’t kept to the timetable they had promised. She noted that the regional sector 
is working closely with MfE, and that MfE’s reach into delivery was compromising ability to deliver 
but that they have been given legal advice to step back. 
Peter read a message from Minister Parker noting confidence that we are on the right track for the 
NPS-FM and his hope that we can turn around degradation of waterways. 

Decision

The Forum agreed to:
1. receive the quarterly CWMS update report
2. notes the work underway to develop a new integrated planning 

framework.
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Gary Kircher
Seconder: Lianne Dalziel
Outcome: Approved

5.4 Chief Executives Forum report
Hamish Riach spoke to the paper, noting the session with the audit office at the last CEs Forum. 
The CEs also reached out to the NTU to try to understand three waters reform requirements for 
councils at the transitional level, noting there is still opposition to the reform. The CEs Forum is 
preparing advice on how the incoming Mayoral Forum could approach the Plan for Canterbury for 
the next term. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

17



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 10

Decision

The Forum agreed to receive the quarterly report from the Chief Executive 
Forum and note updates to the three-year work programme.
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Gary Kircher
Seconder: Dan Gordon
Outcome: Approved

5.5 Mayoral Forum activities and engagements
The paper was taken as read. 
Members noted the value of the KiwiRail excursion. As well as the insights gained from the trip 
and the information KiwiRail provided on the day, it was a good opportunity to continue to build 
relationships with them. The; relative informality of that event was also helpful. 
The chair noted that there can be a value to journeying together and suggested travelling up to 
Kaikōura via train for the Mayoral Forum in early 2023. 
The disappointing response from Peter Hughes to the letter sent to him around local government 
staff being lost to central government was noted. Alex Chadwick, Deputy Commissioner 
Workforce, Employment Relations & Equity will attend the Wednesday 8am meeting on 21 
September to discuss this further. 

Decision

The Forum agreed to receive the updates on Mayoral Forum activities and 
correspondence since the Forum’s meeting on 27 May 2022. 
Decision Date: 26 Aug 2022
Mover: Nigel Bowen
Seconder: Graham Smith
Outcome: Approved

6. General business

6.1 General business
Peter Scott gave an update on the Basil Chamberlain Central Government Co-investment in River 
Management for Flood Protection report, advising that the regional sector has asked central 
government for funding for flooding events. Minister Mahuta suggested this could be funded from 
the Climate Emergency Response Fund, but local government considers that this needs to be 
funded on an ongoing basis. The regional sector has made it clear to central government that the 
sector invests $200m per annum, and that it wants central government to invest $150m per 
annum. There is a risk that this work gets lost. Ministers are supportive and the regional sector will 
be inviting the Minister and Associate Minister for Local Government to meet with them in the next 
triennium; the Forum might want to consider extending an invitation also. 
The chief executives will provide an update to the next Mayoral Forum.
It was noted that there is an opportunity now, ahead of central government elections, for the 
Forum to lobby both sides. 
Environment Canterbury has become more proactive in offering flood protection advice to those 
outside rated areas. It has established a fund for this and 300 pieces of advice have been given. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

18



Minutes : Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 26 Aug 2022

Powered by BoardPro 11

CEs to report back to Forum on Flood Protection advocacy avenues

CEs to report back to the next Mayoral Forum on progress and possible 
avenues for advocacy around the Central Government Co-investment in River 
Management for Flood Protection report. 
10/11: A paper and presentation will be provided to the Mayoral Forum on 25 
November. 
Due Date: 30 Nov 2022
Owner: Hamish  Riach

7. Close Meeting

7.1 Meeting review
Members discussed the meeting, noting the long table was not so good for discussion, but that 
extra time for discussion today was good. 
Graham commended the chair and the value of being together in person. 
Members reiterated earlier comments about the outstanding support from  the secretariat this local 
government term. 

7.2 Closing karakia
The meeting was closed with a karakia. 

7.3 Close the meeting
Next meeting: Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022, 8:30 am

Signature:____________________ Date:_________________________

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Minutes from the previous meeting 1.3 a

19



Generated on: 2022-11-17 12:45:08

Powered by BoardPro 1

Action List
Canterbury Mayoral Forum

As of: 17 Nov 2022

Health NZ discussions In Progress
Rob Campbell to talk to his team about:

 providing protocols and expectations to LGNZ to support councils in engaging effectively 
in health reforms

 possibility of looking at adding some Canterbury localities to the initial roll out and will 
respond to the secretariat

 sharing information with the Forum, via the Secretariat, on the Wairoa locality pilot
 arranging a visit to Waitaki to understand the operation of their hospital and the 

established relationships which could form the basis for a locality. 
10/11: Followed up again with Rob Campbell's office on 28 October. 
Due Date: 30 Nov 2022
Owner: Maree McNeilly
Meeting: 8 Aug 2022 Mayoral Forum meeting with Health NZ Chair, 2.1 Update on transition 

process

Health NZ actions In Progress
Recommend that the incoming Mayoral Forum invite Rob Campbell and Amy Adams to the 
Forum early in 2023 to continue the Health NZ discussions. It was suggested that Health NZ 
provide relevant briefing material ahead of this meeting to support the discussion.  
10/11: On 28 October we wrote to Rob Campbell to follow up on these actions and invite him to 
attend the February Mayoral Forum dinner. 
Due Date: 30 Nov 2022
Owner: Maree McNeilly
Meeting: 8 Aug 2022 Mayoral Forum meeting with Health NZ Chair, 2.1 Update on transition 

process

MfE to respond to issues raised at August Mayoral Forum In Progress
MfE to provide a response to issues made at the Mayoral Forum, and will arrange to meet with 
the Forum again, potentially at a standalone meeting before November. 
10/11: MfE will be attending the Mayoral Forum on 25 November. 
Due Date: 30 Nov 2022
Owner: Maree McNeilly
Meeting: 26 Aug 2022 Canterbury Mayoral Forum, 2.1 Resource management reform - model 

region discussion

CEs to report back to Forum on Flood Protection advocacy avenues In Progress
CEs to report back to the next Mayoral Forum on progress and possible avenues for advocacy 
around the Central Government Co-investment in River Management for Flood Protection report. 
10/11: A paper and presentation will be provided to the Mayoral Forum on 25 November. 
Due Date: 30 Nov 2022
Owner: Hamish  Riach

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Action List 1.4 a

20



Powered by BoardPro 2

Meeting: 26 Aug 2022 Canterbury Mayoral Forum, 6.1 General business

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Action List 1.4 a

21



Canterbury Mayoral Forum
Date: 25 November 2022

Presented by: Hamish Riach, Chair, Chief Executives Forum

Selection of Chair and Deputy Chair

Purpose

1. This paper outlines the process for the selection of the Chair and Deputy Chair of the 
Canterbury Mayoral Forum.

Recommendations 

That the Canterbury Mayoral Forum: 

1. agree to use first past the post voting procedure for the selection of the Chair 
and Deputy Chair 

2. agree that, in the event of a tie between the highest polling candidates, a coin 
toss will determine the successful candidate. 

Background

2. The custom is for the Chair of the Chief Executives Forum to chair the first meeting of 
the Mayoral Forum until the Forum has selected a Chair. This is consistent with the 
procedure to be followed at the first meeting of a local authority following local body 
elections (Local Government Act 2002, Schedule 7, Clause 21).

3. The Mayoral Forum is able to agree on the voting system to use to elect its Chair and 
Deputy Chair.

4. On the recommendation of the Chair of the Chief Executives Forum it is suggested that 
the forum agree to use the first past the post voting procedure and in the event of a tie 
that a coin toss will determine the successful candidate.

Voting process steps

5. The steps involved in the process are as follows:

 the Forum agrees to the voting procedure and the procedure in the event of a tie

 the interim Chair calls for nominations for the position of Chair, which need to be 
nominated and seconded

 nominees may make a brief statement in support of their nomination.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Selection of chair and deputy chair 2.1 a

22



 voting for Chair takes place as per agreed system.

 Chair declared as elected

 Chair assumes the chair.

 Chair conducts selection of Deputy Chair by the same method.

Cost, compliance and communication

Financial implications 

6. No honorarium or other remuneration is payable to the Chair and Deputy Chair of the 
Canterbury Mayoral Forum. 

Risk assessment and legal compliance

7. The proposed process to select the Chair and Deputy Chair complies with the Local 
Government Act 2002, Schedule 7.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Selection of chair and deputy chair 2.1 a

23



Canterbury Mayoral Forum
Date: 25 November 2022

Presented by: Hamish Riach

Introduction to the Canterbury Mayoral Forum

Purpose

1. This paper provides some further context and background on the Mayoral Forum, and 
an opportunity for members to reflect on its value going into the new term.

Recommendation

That the Canterbury Mayoral Forum: 

1. note the role and mandate of the Forum

Background

2. Following the election, Canterbury Mayoral Forum members were provided with the 
following background material:

 briefing for incoming members 

 record of the Mayoral Forum’s achievements during the 2019-22 term 

 draft triennial agreement 

 Canterbury 2022 - An Overview document presenting high-level information on 
current state and trends of wellbeing in Canterbury to inform the Mayoral Forum.

Role and mandate

3. The purpose and mandate of the Forum are set out in the briefing material. In short:

 the Mayoral Forum is the key mechanism to implement the Canterbury Local 
Authorities’ Triennial Agreement and is mandated by paragraph 14 of the 
Agreement (see item 2.3 of the agenda for the proposed Agreement for this term)

 its role includes developing and leading implementation of a sustainable 
development strategy (see item 4.1 of the agenda), providing governance oversight 
of the Canterbury Water Management Strategy (see item 4.3 of the agenda), and 
advocating for the interests of the region, its councils and communities.

4. It is important to note that members speak in their own right at the Forum as leaders for 
Canterbury, rather than doing so as representatives for their councils. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Introduction to the Canterbury Ma... 2.2 a

24



5. Any decisions the Forum makes are not binding on Canterbury’s local authorities. 

Value of the Mayoral Forum

6. Over the last few terms, the Mayoral Forum has accomplished its achievements through 
exercising leadership, facilitation and advocacy for Canterbury. 

7. ‘One strong voice for Canterbury’ has been a powerful tool for the Forum, and has 
meant its views and ideas have been respected by local and central government as well 
as the region’s stakeholders. 

8. With the significance and volume of reform proposed for the local government sector, 
including three waters, emergency management, resource management, health, and 
the review into the future for local government, it is crucial that the Forum works 
constructively and collaboratively to ensure a strong local voice throughout the reform 
processes. 

9. I invite returning mayors to reflect on their perspective of the value of the Forum, and all 
members to contribute on where they see the value this term. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Introduction to the Canterbury Ma... 2.2 a

25



Canterbury Mayoral Forum
Date: 25 November 2022

Presented by: Hamish Riach, Chair, Chief Executives Forum

Canterbury local authorities’ triennial agreement 

Purpose

1. This paper invites the Mayoral Forum to adopt the attached draft Canterbury Local 
Authorities’ Triennial Agreement 2022-2025 (the Agreement) and arrange for it to be 
ratified by councils before 1 March 2023.

Recommendations 

That the Canterbury Mayoral Forum: 

1. adopt the Canterbury Local Authorities’ Triennial Agreement 2022-2025

2. arrange for the Triennial Agreement to be ratified by councils before 1 March 
2023.

Key points 

2. The Agreement mandates the work of the Mayoral Forum, the Chief Executives Forum 
and other regional forums and working groups.

3. The parties to the Agreement are the 11 local authorities of Canterbury. To comply with 
the Local Government Act, all councils are required to ratify the Agreement no later than 
1 March 2023. 

4. Council staff may wish to draw on the content of this report when drafting council 
papers to ratify the Agreement.

Local Government Act requirements

5. The Local Government Act 2002 (s.15) requires all local authorities within a region to 
enter into a triennial agreement not later than 1 March after each triennial general 
election of members.

6. The purpose of a triennial agreement is to ensure that appropriate levels of 
communication, co-ordination and collaboration are maintained between local 
authorities within the region. Agreements must include:

 protocols for communication and co-ordination between councils

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 a

26



 the process by which councils will comply with section 16 of the Act, which applies 
to significant new activities proposed by regional councils

 processes and protocols through which all councils can participate in identifying, 
delivering and funding facilities and services of significance to more than one 
district.

7. Triennial agreements may also include commitments to establish joint governance 
arrangements to give better effect to the matters set out in paragraph 7 above.

8. A triennial agreement may be varied by agreement between all the local authorities 
within a region and remains in force until local authorities ratify a new agreement.

Canterbury triennial agreement

9. The secretariat has drafted the Agreement at the direction of the outgoing Mayoral 
Forum. The attached draft was discussed and endorsed at the May and August 2022 
meetings of the Mayoral Forum.

10. The Agreement includes terms of reference for the Mayoral Forum and mandates it as 
the primary mechanism for implementing the Agreement in Canterbury (Agreement, 
paragraph 14). The Agreement (paragraph 16) also mandates the Chief Executives 
Forum and other regional forums and working groups.

Engagement with Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

11. The Mayoral Forum terms of reference, which form part of the Agreement, provide 
(paragraph 5(c)) that:

The Canterbury Mayoral Forum shall have the power to invite people to attend and 
participate in its meetings on a permanent and/or issues basis. The Forum has 
issued a standing invitation to the Kaiwhakahaere or other representative/s of Te 
Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu to attend and participate in meetings of the Forum. The 
Canterbury Mayoral Forum has extended an invitation to the chairs of the Papatipu 
Rūnanga to meet biannually with the Mayoral Forum.

12. Engagement with Papatipu Rūnanga through biannual meetings commenced in 
February 2021. At these meetings the Forum and Rūnanga chairs began discussing 
how they would like to engage with each other as Canterbury’s leaders, however these 
discussions were not concluded by the end of the previous local government term.

13. Following adoption of the Triennial Agreement the secretariat will draft letters for the 
Chair of the Mayoral Forum to send to both the Kaiwhakahaere of Te Rūnanga o Ngāi 
Tahu and the chairs of the Papatipu Rūnanga to confirm these arrangements. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 a

27



Cost, compliance and communication

Financial implications 

14. Member councils meet their own costs for meeting attendance (travel, accommodation 
and Mayoral Forum working dinners). When we invite guests to working dinners, the 
cost of their meals will come from the regional forums levy councils pay annually. 
Mayors and Chief Executives pay personally for any alcoholic beverages consumed.

15. The Chief Executives Forum has a regional forums budget for approved collaborative 
projects. This is funded by a levy on member councils to an agreed formula. The levy 
for 2022/23 is $63,000.

16. The Mayoral Forum may choose to levy councils for specific project work if required, 
over and above the Chief Executives regional forums budget. This is decided on a 
case-by-case basis.

17. Selwyn District Council provides meeting rooms and covers catering costs for regional 
forums that meet in its premises.

18. Environment Canterbury covers secretariat salaries and overheads and some Mayoral 
Forum meeting costs (room hire and lunch). Environment Canterbury also acts as fund-
holder for any grants obtained from central government.

Risk assessment and legal compliance

19. The Agreement complies with requirements in section 15 of the Local Government Act 
2002. 

20. The Agreement needs to be ratified by the parties to the agreement – the 10 territorial 
authorities in Canterbury and the regional council – no later than 1 March 2023. 

Significance and engagement 

21. Adopting and ratifying a triennial agreement as required by the Local Government Act 
2002 s.15 is unlikely to trigger Significance and Engagement Policies as adopted by 
councils to comply with s.76AA of the Local Government Act 2002. 

Communication

22. When all councils have ratified the Agreement, the secretariat will publish it on the 
Mayoral Forum’s website at https://canterburymayors.org.nz/

Next steps

23. The next steps for the Triennial Agreement are:

 Mayors/Chair and Chief Executives arrange for member councils to ratify the 
Agreement before 1 March 2023

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 a

28

https://canterburymayors.org.nz/


 Secretariat publishes a signed copy of the Agreement on the Mayoral Forum 
website by 20 March 2023

 Chair of the Mayoral Forum extends a standing invitation to the Kaiwhakahaere of 
Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu to Mayoral Forum meetings and writes to the chairs of 
the Papatipu Rūnanga to invite them to meet biannually with the Mayoral Forum.

Attachments 
 Draft Canterbury Local Authorities’ Triennial Agreement 2022–25

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 a

29



Canterbury Local Authorities’ Triennial Agreement 2022–25
Background

1. Section 15 of the Local Government Act 2002 (the Act) requires local authorities within 
a regional council area to enter into a Triennial Agreement (the Agreement) by 1 March 
following triennial local body elections.

2. The purpose of the Agreement is to ensure appropriate levels of communication, co- 
ordination and collaboration between local authorities within the region. The agreement 
must include:

 protocols for communication and co-ordination between the councils

 the process by which councils will comply with section 16 of the Act, which applies 
to significant new activities proposed by regional councils

 processes and protocols through which all councils can participate in identifying, 
delivering and funding facilities and services of significance to more than one 
district.

3. Agreements may also include commitments to establish joint governance arrangements 
to give better effect to the matters set out in paragraph 2 above.

Parties to the Agreement

4. The Parties to the Agreement are the Kaikōura, Hurunui, Waimakariri, Selwyn, 
Ashburton, Timaru, Mackenzie, Waimate and Waitaki District Councils, the Christchurch 
City Council, and the Canterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury).

Standing together for Canterbury

5. The Parties agree to work collaboratively and in good faith for the good governance and 
sustainable development of their districts, cities and region.

Communication

6. The Parties value and will maintain open communication, collaboration and trust. In the 
interest of “no surprises”, the Parties will give early notice of potential disagreements 
between, or actions likely to impact significantly on, other Parties.

Significant new activities

7. When a Party is considering a major policy initiative or proposal that may have 
implications for other Parties, they will give early notification to the affected Parties and 
share the information with the Canterbury Mayoral Forum and the Canterbury Chief 
Executives Forum.

8. The Canterbury Regional Council will provide early advice to the Canterbury Chief 
Executives Forum and the Canterbury Mayoral Forum of any significant new activity, in 
addition to other requirements specified in s.16 of the Act.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

30



Local government structure in Canterbury

9. Notwithstanding the spirit of co-operation and collaboration embodied in the Agreement, 
the Parties, individually or collectively, reserve the right to promote, consult and/or 
research change to the structure of local government within the Canterbury region.

10. This right is consistent with the intent to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of local 
government (Local Government Act 2002 s.24AA), having particular regard to 
communities of interest and community representation.

Regional Policy Statement review

11. The Agreement applies to any change, variation or review of the Canterbury Regional 
Policy Statement.

Collaboration

12. The Parties commit to working collaboratively to:

 enable democratic local decision-making and action by, and on behalf of, 
communities

 promote the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of 
communities in the present and for the future (Local Government Act 2002, s.10).

13. Collaboration may be undertaken on a whole-of-region, or sub-regional, basis.
14. The primary mechanism to implement this Agreement is the Canterbury Mayoral Forum. 

The Forum will meet quarterly and operate in accordance with its agreed terms of 
reference, which are attached as Appendix 1.

15. The Canterbury Mayoral Forum will:

 continue to provide governance of the Canterbury Water Management Strategy

 develop and lead implementation of a sustainable development strategy for 
Canterbury region for the local government triennium 2022–25

 advocate for the interests of the region, its councils and communities.
16. The Canterbury Mayoral Forum will be supported by the Canterbury Chief Executives 

Forum and other regional forums and working groups as agreed from time to time.

17. The Chief Executives Forum will:

 report quarterly to the Canterbury Mayoral Forum on delivery of its work 
programme to implement and manage collaborative projects and agreed actions of 
the Canterbury Mayoral Forum

 identify and escalate to the Canterbury Mayoral Forum strategic issues and 
opportunities for collaboration from the Policy, Corporate and Operational Forums 
and other regional and sub-regional working groups.

18. As requested by the Canterbury Mayoral Forum, Environment Canterbury will host a 
permanent regional forums secretariat and resource this from the regional general rate.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

31



Other agreements

19. This Agreement does not prevent the Parties from entering into other agreements 
among themselves or outside the Canterbury region. Any other such agreement should 
not, however, be contrary to the purpose and spirit of this Agreement.

Agreement to review

20. A triennial agreement may be varied by agreement between all the local authorities 
within the region and remains in force until local authorities ratify a new agreement.

21. Any one or more of the Parties can request an amendment to this Agreement by writing 
to the Chair of the Canterbury Mayoral Forum at least two weeks before a regular 
quarterly meeting of the Forum.

22. The Canterbury Mayoral Forum will review the Agreement no later than the final 
meeting before triennial local body elections and recommend any changes to the 
incoming councils.

Authority

23. This Canterbury Local Authorities’ Triennial Agreement 2022–25 is signed by the 
following on behalf of their respective authorities:

COUNCIL SIGNATURE DATE

Ashburton District Council 
Mayor 

Canterbury Regional Council 
Chair 

Christchurch City Council 
Mayor 

Hurunui District Council 
Mayor 

Kaikōura District Council 
Mayor 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

32



Mackenzie District Council 
Mayor 

Selwyn District Council 
Mayor 

Timaru District Council 
Mayor 

Waimakariri District Council 
Mayor 

Waimate District Council 
Mayor 

Waitaki District Council 
Mayor 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

33



Appendix 1: Canterbury Mayoral Forum terms of reference
1. Name

The name of the group shall be the Canterbury Mayoral Forum.

2. Objectives

(a) To provide a forum to enable Canterbury councils to work more collaboratively with 
each other and with central government and other key sector leaders in Canterbury 
to identify opportunities and solve problems together.

(b) To identify and prioritise issues of mutual concern and foster co-operation, co- 
ordination and collaboration to address these issues (including where appropriate 
joint work plans).

(c) To formulate policies and strategies on matters where all member councils may act 
collaboratively in determining plans for the co-ordination of regional growth.

(d) To ensure increased effectiveness of local government in meeting the needs of 
Canterbury communities.

(e) To act as an advocate to central government or their agencies or other bodies on 
issues of concern to members.

(f) To develop and implement programmes, which are responsive to the needs and 
expectations of the community.

3. Principles

In pursuit of these objectives the Canterbury Mayoral Forum will observe the following 
principles.
(a) Establish and maintain close liaison with other local government networks to ensure 

as far as possible the pursuit of common objectives and the minimisation of 
duplication.

(b) Establish and maintain close liaison with Ministers of the Crown and local Members 
of Parliament.

(c) Establish and maintain close liaison with a wide number of diverse stakeholders and 
key sector organisations within the region.

(d) Exercise its functions with due regard to the tangata whenua and cultural diversity of 
the Canterbury community.

(e) Keep the local community informed about its activities by proactively releasing 
information about key projects in a timely manner, as agreed by the member councils.

(f) Encourage member councils to promote and apply cross-boundary structures and 
systems.

(g) Establish a provision for reporting back to its respective Councils.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

34



4. Powers

(a) The Canterbury Mayoral Forum shall have the power to:

(i) levy for any or all of its objects in such amount or amounts as may be 
mutually determined and acceptable to individual local authorities

(ii) determine and make payments from its funds for any or all of the purposes of 
its objects

(iii) receive any grant or subsidy and apply monies for the purposes of such grant 
or subsidy

(iv) fund appropriate aspects of the Forum’s activities regionally.

(b) The Canterbury Mayoral Forum does not have the power to legally bind any council 
to any act or decision unless that act or decision has been agreed to by decision of 
that council.

5. Membership

(a) Membership of the Canterbury Mayoral Forum shall be open to the following councils: 
Ashburton District Council
Canterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury) 
Christchurch City Council
Hurunui District Council 
Kaikōura District Council 
Mackenzie District Council 
Selwyn District Council 
Timaru District Council 
Waimakariri District Council 
Waimate District Council 
Waitaki District Council.

(b) Each member council shall be represented by its Mayor (or Chair in the case of 
Environment Canterbury) and supported by its Chief Executive. On occasions where 
the Mayor or Chair cannot attend, a council may be represented by its Deputy Mayor 
or Deputy Chair.

(c) The Canterbury Mayoral Forum shall have the power to invite people to attend and 
participate in its meetings on a permanent and/or issues basis. The Forum has issued 
a standing invitation to the Kaiwhakahaere or other representative/s of Te Rūnanga 
o Ngāi Tahu to attend and participate in meetings of the Forum. The Canterbury 
Mayoral Forum has extended an invitation to the chairs of the Papatipu Rūnanga to 
meet biannually with the Mayoral Forum.

6. Chairperson

(a) The Canterbury Mayoral Forum shall select a Chair at the first meeting immediately 
following the Triennial Elections. This appointment may be reviewed after a period of 
18 months.

(b) The Chair selected will preside at all meetings of the Canterbury Mayoral Forum.
(c) The Canterbury Mayoral Forum shall select a Deputy Chair at the first meeting 

immediately following the Triennial Elections.
(d) The Canterbury Mayoral Forum may appoint spokespersons from its membership for 

issues being considered, in which case each member council agrees to refer all 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

35



requests for information and documents to the duly appointed spokespersons.

7. Meetings

(a) Meetings will be held as required with an annual schedule, covering a calendar year, 
to be determined by the members. Meetings will be held quarterly at venues to be 
determined.

(b) Special meetings may be called at the request of four members.
(c) The secretariat will prepare an agenda for Mayoral Forum meetings in consultation 

with the Chair and the Chief Executives Forum.
(d) Agendas for meetings will be issued and minutes will be taken and circulated.
(e) A summary of each meeting will be drafted and shared on the Canterbury Mayoral 

Forum website for members to distribute within their councils as a high-level record 
of the meeting. 

(f) Approved minutes and approved final reports and papers will be made available via 
the Canterbury Mayoral Forum website as agreed by the Canterbury Mayoral 
Forum.

8. Decision making

(a) The practice of the Forum will be to determine issues before it by consensus.
(b) If the consensus is to determine issues by voting, the determination shall be 

determined by a majority of votes of the authorities represented at the meeting 
through the Mayor or Chair or their nominated representative.

9. Secretariat

The Canterbury Mayoral Forum will appoint Environment Canterbury to carry out the 
secretariat function on such terms and conditions as it shall decide for the discharge of duties. 
This includes taking minutes, keeping any books and accounts and attending to any other 
business of the forum.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Canterbury Local Authorities' Trie... 2.3 b

36



Canterbury Mayoral Forum
Date: 25 November 2022

Presented by: Hamish Riach, Chair, Chief Executives Forum

Regional Forums structure and 2023 calendar

Purpose

1. The purpose of this paper is to provide the recommendations of the Chief Executives 
Forum on the structure for the Regional Forums this term. 

Recommendations 

That the Canterbury Mayoral Forum: 

1. establish a climate change action planning reference group for the local 
government term to support and provide governance-level input into the work 
of the Climate Change Working Group on regional action planning 

2. subject to recommendation 1, select a chair for the reference group from its 
membership and advise the secretariat of the nominated councillor for the 
group from each council as soon as practicable

3. endorse the reinstatement of the Canterbury Biodiversity Champions 
councillor group for this local government term

4. subject to recommendation 3, select a member for the Canterbury Biodiversity 
Champions from its membership and advise the secretariat of the nominated 
councillor for the group from each council as soon as practicable

5. note the regional forums meeting calendar for 2023.

Background

2. To support the Mayoral Forum, the Chief Executives Forum provides advice at the outset 
of the new triennium on how it might wish to operate. 

3. The paper recommends the Mayoral Forum establish only one subgroup at this stage, a 
climate change action planning reference group. The purpose of this group would be to 
provide oversight of a key climate change project. 

4. The paper also recommends that the Mayoral Forum endorse the reinstatement of the 
Canterbury Biodiversity Champions councillor group. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 a

37



Canterbury Mayoral Forum Steering Groups

5. During the previous local government term, the Mayoral Forum had steering groups for 
climate change, three waters, the Essential Freshwater reform package, and a forum for 
regional economic development.

6. These groups served important purposes during the last local government term and 
supported the Mayoral Forum’s key priority areas. Key outcomes or achievements of the 
groups include:

 the Climate Change Steering Group oversaw the development of the Canterbury 
Climate Change Risk Assessment, maintained a watching brief for the Mayoral 
Forum on key government climate change initiatives like the National Adaptation 
Plan and the Emissions Reduction Plan, and advocated for the ongoing importance 
of the It’s time, Canterbury campaign

 the Three Waters Steering Group oversaw the development of a collaborative three 
waters reform model with Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

 the Essential Freshwater Steering Group kept a watching brief on progress with 
implementation of the National Policy Statement Essential Freshwater

 the Economic Development Group brought together mayors and senior economic 
development staff from across the region, setting the expectation for a more 
collaborative approach to regional development in Canterbury, as well as building 
stronger relationships with MBIE officials. 

7. While these groups had their place last term, a different approach may be needed this 
local government term to allow the Mayoral Forum to be agile enough to respond to the 
various reform programmes as well as its business as usual.

Climate change

8. During the last term, the Mayoral Forum had a governance role in regional climate 
change matters through the Climate Change Steering Group and by hosting the regional 
climate change councillor group. The purpose of the steering group was to lend political 
support to the officer-led Climate Change Working Group, which reported to the steering 
group, the Policy Forum, and often the Chief Executives Forum and Mayoral Forum. 

9. The climate change councillor group received information on climate change matters but 
had no specific decision-making function, albeit members had an interest in having a 
stronger role on climate change actions for their councils and regionally. The future 
direction of the councillor group remained unresolved at the end of the last triennium. 

10. Climate change will be an important area of focus over the next three years. The Climate 
Change Adaptation Bill will be introduced in 2023 as part of the resource management 
reform programme, and the National Adaptation Plan and the Emissions Reduction Plan 
will be implemented. Given the significance of climate change matters it is recommended 
that the full Forum keep a watching brief on this topic, instead of reinstating the Climate 
Change Steering Group. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 a

38



11. By allowing the full Forum to have direct oversight of this issue, it will ensure all 
members are across developments in this space. In addition, the Climate Change 
Working Group is now well-established, and the need for a specific group to support it 
from a political perspective has reduced. 

12. Although climate change matters will be managed by the full Forum, the regional climate 
change action planning project, which is the next step following the publication in 2021 of 
the Canterbury Climate Change Risk Assessment, will require governance input as it 
progresses.

13. The proposed process, governance and sign-off arrangements for this regional project 
are outlined later in this agenda (see agenda item 4.2). In summary, it is proposed that 
the Mayoral Forum establish a climate change action planning reference group to 
oversee the work, and that this group be one councillor from each local authority, chaired 
by a member of the Mayoral Forum and supported by a chief executive, (similar to the 
set-up of the regional climate change councillor group).

14. The reference group is necessarily different to the steering group as it is focused on one 
specific and significant project.

15. The proposed reference group would provide feedback and advice at a governance level 
to the Climate Change Working Group as the project progresses. Members would need 
to have the necessary mandate to provide feedback on behalf of their council. 

16. One of the key reasons for the make-up of the group is that it would offer councillors the 
opportunity to be involved in regional climate change matters in a much stronger way 
than the councillor workshops from last term. The reference group would also need to 
meet reasonably regularly, depending on the various stages of the project, and given 
mayoral workloads it is considered that councillors availability would better enable 
meeting project timelines. 

17. To enable regular oversight of the project by the Mayoral Forum, the reference group 
would report to the Forum quarterly on its activities. 

18. The key advantages of the reference group approach are that it would allow:

 the project to run efficiently, with reference group input as required 

 a clear link to the Mayoral Forum through the group being chaired by a member 
of the Forum, with support from a chief executive 

 meaningful input into regional climate change activities by councillors across the 
region with an interest in climate change

 strong buy-in from each council at every step of the process, as each council 
would be represented at a governance level

 a reduction in the number of governance groups the Climate Change Working 
Group would be required to report to

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 a

39



19. Should the Forum agree to establish this reference group, nominations from each council 
and the selection of a chair from the Mayoral Forum will be required. Proposed terms of 
reference for the reference group will be drafted and a project plan developed to ensure 
clarity around reference group meetings.

Water management

20. The Essential Freshwater steering group included all but two mayors in the previous 
triennium, which clearly demonstrates the interest of this topic to forum members. It is 
therefore recommended that essential freshwater matters come to the full Forum for its 
consideration. 

21. Three waters reform is of key interest to all councils and given the importance of this 
topic and the work that will be progressing over this local government term it is also 
recommended that all three waters matters come to the full Forum for its consideration.

Economic development

22. As members are aware, the Chief Executives Forum has established an economic 
development forum to support the Mayoral Forum’s work in this space. This group will 
report to the Mayoral Forum through chief executives. 

23. There will therefore be no need for a separate governance-level group. In addition, and 
as above, because of the importance of the topic for the region, it would be sensible for 
the full Mayoral Forum to stay across developments in this area. 

Canterbury Biodiversity Champions

24. During the 2019-22 term, the Mayoral Forum supported the establishment of the 
Biodiversity Champions councillor group. This group was made up of a councillor from 
each of Canterbury’s 11 authorities, nominated by their respective mayors, and met 
regularly between February 2021 and September 2022. The group’s purpose was to 
raise awareness amongst their council colleagues of the importance of biodiversity and 
to advocate for the role of councils and communities in weaving biodiversity through 
Canterbury’s living and working landscapes.

25. Some of the group’s key successes during the term were developing shared regional 
approaches to biodiversity issues and opportunities, its advocacy for biodiversity as an 
elevated priority across the region, improving biodiversity investment in Long Term Plan 
and Annual Plan processes, and collaborating on national direction through sharing 
analysis and draft submissions, and considering implementation and impacts.

26. Members from the previous term are very keen to ensure the group is reinstated so that 
it can continue to build momentum through into the new term. If the Biodiversity 
Champions are reinstated, the tie to the Mayoral Forum could be strengthened by 
selecting a mayor as a member of this group. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 a

40



27. From a regional collaboration perspective, the group could play an important role as the 
key conduit to support work across the region on the revitalisation of the Canterbury 
Biodiversity Strategy, the development of a regional biodiversity monitoring framework 
and implementation of the National Policy Statement for Indigenous Biodiversity.

Regional forums and working groups proposed structure 2023

28. The Canterbury regional forums and working groups proposed structure is provided at 
attachment 1.

2023 meeting schedule

29. The 2023 meeting schedule for the regional forums is appended as attachment 2.

30. As with previous years, the schedule is set around the Local Government New Zealand 
calendar to avoid meeting clashes for members wherever possible. 

31. All Canterbury councils intend to hold their council meetings on a Tuesday or 
Wednesday in 2023, enabling Thursdays and Fridays to be available for regional 
engagements. 

Attachments 
 Attachment 1: regional forums structure

 Attachment 2: meeting schedule for 2023

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 a

41



REGIONAL�FORUMS�SECRETARIAT�(hosted�by�Environment�Canterbury)

Maree�McNeilly Principal�Advisor 027�381�8924

Amanda�Wall Senior�Advisor 027�234�6381

Rosa�Wakefield Project�Coordinator 027�381�9406

secretariat@canterburymayors.org.nz� https://www.canterburymayors.org.nz/

Canterbury�Regional�Forums�and�Working�Groups
Proposed�2023�structure

CANTERBURY�MAYORAL�FORUM
Chair:�TBC

CHIEF�EXECUTIVES�FORUM
Chair:�Hamish�Riach

(Ashburton)

POLICY�FORUM
Chair:�Hamish�Dobbie�

(Hurunui)

Planning�Managers�Group
Chair:�Hamish�Barrell

(Timaru)

Climate�Change�Working�Group
Chair:�Tim�Davie�

(Environment�Canterbury)

CORPORATE�FORUM
Chair:�Angela�Oosthuizen

(Mackenzie)

Finance�Managers�Group
Chair:�Jason�Beck

(Hurunui)

Chief�Information�Officers�Group
Chair:�Symon�McHerron

(Christchurch)

People�and�Capability�Working�Group
Chair:�Lisa�Baillie

(Waitaki)

Public�Records�Act�Executive�Sponsors�
Group

Chair:�Andy�Keiller�(Waimakariri)

OPERATIONS�FORUM
Chair:�Hamish�Dobbie�

(Hurunui)

Drinking�Water�Reference�Group
Chair:�Helen�Beaumont�

(Christchurch)

Engineering�Managers�Group
Chair:�Murray�Washington�

(Selwyn)

Health�&�Safety�Advisors�Group
Chair:�Bill�Nelson�/�Lisa�Stewart

(Waitaki�/�ECan)

Stormwater�Forum
Chair:�Gerard�Cleary�

(Waimakariri)

Regulatory�Managers�Group�(non-RMA)
Chair:�Rick�Catchpowle�

(Ashburton)

Natural�Hazards�Risk�Reduction�Group
Chair:�James�Thompson�(CDEM)

LTP�Working�Group
Chair:�David�Ward

(Selwyn)

CLIMATE�CHANGE�ACTION�PLANNING�
STEERING�GROUP

Chair:�TBC

Records�and�Information�Management�
Group

Chair:�Trish�Keen�(Waimakariri)

Joint�Waste�Committee�Staff�Group
Chair:�Ross�Trotter�

(Christchurch)

Wastewater�Working�Group
Chair:�TBC

ECONOMIC�DEVELOPMENT�
FORUM

Chair:�Dawn�Baxendale
(Christchurch)

COMMUNICATIONS�AND�
ENGAGEMENT�FORUM

Chair:�Will�Doughty
(Kaikōura)

BIODIVERSITY�CHAMPIONS
Chair:�TBC

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 b

42

mailto:secretariat@canterburymayors.org.nz
https://www.canterburymayors.org.nz/


January February March April May June July August September October November December

s 1 New Year’s Day    1  s

m 2 Holiday  1 CEs Forum 2  m

t 3 New Year’s Day 2 CEAG 1  CEAG 3 t

w 4 1 1 LGNZ Nat Council 3 2 4 1 w

t 5 2  2 LGNZ R&P 4  1 CMF dinner 3 5 2 LGNZ R&P t

f 6 3  GCP Committee 3 LGNZ R&P 5 LGNZ Regional 2 Mayoral Forum 4 Papatipu rūnanga 1 LGNZ Nat Council 6 3 LGNZ R&P 1 LGNZ Nat Council f

s 7 4  4 1 6 3 1 5 2 7  4 2 s

s 8 5 5 2 7 4 2 6 3 8 5 3 s

m 9 6 Waitangi Day 6 3 8 LGNZ Zone 5 5 King’s Birthday 3 7 4   9 6 CEs Forum 4 m

t 10 7 7 4 CEAG 9 6 4  8  5 10 CEAG 7 5 t

w 11 8 8 5 10 7 5  9 6 11 8  6 w

t 12  9 9 6 11  8 6 10 7 12 9 7 t

f 13 10 LGNZ Metro 10 GCP Committee 7 Good Friday 12 GCP Committee  9 GCP Committee 7 GCP Committee 11 GCP Committee 8 GCP Committee 13 LGNZ Zone 5&6 10 GCP Committee
LGNZ Regional

8 GCP Committee
CCEF

f

s 14 11 11 8 13 10 8 12 9 14 11 9 s

s 15 12  12 9 14 11 9 13 10 15 12 10  s

m 16 13 13 10 Easter Monday 15 12 LGNZ Zone 5&6 10 14 11 16 13 11 CCF and COF m

t 17 SMG & SOG 14 14 11  16 13 11 15 12  17 14 12 SMG & SOG t

w 18 15 15 12 17 14 12 16 13 18 15 13 w

t 19 16 16 Combined CCF, 
COF, CPF, CCEF

13 18 15 13 17 14  19 16  14 t

f 20 17 LGNZ Regional 17 Combined CCF, 
COF, CPF, CCEF

14 GCP Committee 19 LGNZ Nat Council 16 14 Matariki 18 15 CCEF 20 GCP Committee 17 Show Day 15 CPF and CEDF f

s 21 18 18 15 20 17 15 19 16 21 18 16 s

s 22 19  19 16 21 18 16 20 17 22 19 17 s

m 23 20 20 17  22 19 CCF and COF
LGNZ CE Forum

17  21 18 CCF and COF
LGNZ CE Forum

23 Labour Day 20 18 m

t 24 CEAG 21 SMG & SOG 21 18 SMG & SOG 23 SMG & SOG 20 SMG & SOG 18 22 SMG & SOG 19 24 SMG & SOG 21 SMG & SOG 19 t
w 25 22 22 19 24 21 19  23 20 25 22 20 w

t 26 23 CMF dinner 23 20  25 LGNZ Comb. Sect. 22 20 24 CMF dinner 21 26 23 CMF dinner 21 t

f 27 24 Mayoral Forum 24 Papatipu rūnanga 21 26 LGNZ Comb. Sect. 23 CCEF 21 LGNZ Nat Council 25 Mayoral Forum 22 CPF and CEDF 27 LGNZ Metro 24 Mayoral Forum 22 f

s 28 25 25 22 27 24 22 26 23 28  25 23 s

s 29  26 26 23 28  25  23 27 24 29 26 24 s

m 30 CEs Forum 27 LGNZ Zone 5 & 6 27 24  29 26 24  28 25 South Canty Anniv 30 Marlborough Ann 27  25 Christmas Day m

t 31 28 CEAG 28 SMG & SOG 25 ANZAC Day 30 CEAG 27 CEAG 25 SMG & SOG 29 CEAG 26 SMG & SOG 31 CEAG 28 CEAG 26 Boxing Day t

w 29 26 31 28 26 LGNZ AGM 30 27 29 27 w

t 30 27 29  27 LGNZ Conference 31 28 30 LGNZ Nat Council 28 t

f 31 CEDF 28   30 CPF and CEDF 28 LGNZ Conference 29  29 f

s  29     29 30 30 s

s  30 30 31 New Year’s Eve s

m    31 CEs Forum    m

Canterbury Mayoral Forum and Greater Christchurch Partnership meeting dates 2023

As at 10 November 2022

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 c

43



Canterbury Mayoral Forum Greater Christchurch Partnership
Group Membership
Mayoral Forum Canterbury mayors, Canterbury regional council chair, Canterbury council chief execs Partner Governance All mayors, councillors and CEs of the GCP Partners (9am-12pm)
CEs Forum Canterbury council chief executives GCPC (GCP Committee) GCP Committee members (mayors and two councillors from Greater 

Christchurch councils, plus mana whenua etc.) (9am-12pm)CEDF (Economic Development Forum) One Canterbury council CE and economic development reps from Canterbury councils UGP (Urban Growth Partnership) GCP Committee members, plus Hon Megan Woods, and Hon Nanaia Mahuta
CPF (Policy Forum) One Canterbury council CE and policy managers from Canterbury councils CEAG (Chief Executives Advisory 

Group)
Greater Christchurch chief executives (4.30-6.30pm)

COF (Operations Forum) One Canterbury council CE and operations managers from Canterbury councils SMG (Senior Managers Group) Greater Christchurch council senior managers (11am-12pm)
CCF (Corporate Forum) One Canterbury council CE and corporate managers from Canterbury councils SOG (Senior Officials Group) Greater Christchurch council senior officials (9am-11am)
CCEF (Communications and 
Engagement Forum)

One Canterbury council CE and communications managers from Canterbury councils

Papatipu Rūnanga Canterbury mayors and Canterbury Papatipu Rūnanga chairs

Local Government New Zealand Other
Group Membership Council meeting days (note that councils often have committees on other days and may not meet every week)
LGNZ National Council TBC Tuesday Hurunui, Mackenzie, Timaru, Waimakariri, Waimate, Waitaki
LGNZ Regional Environment Canterbury chair and CE Wednesday Ashburton, Kaikōura, Selwyn, Christchurch City, Environment Canterbury
LGNZ R&P (Rural & Provincial) All council mayors and CEs except Christchurch
LGNZ Zone 5 All council mayors and CEs
LGNZ Conference All council mayors and CEs
LGNZ CE Forum Christchurch City CE, Ashburton District Council CE, Hurunui District Council CE
LGNZ Metro Christchurch City mayor and CE School holidays

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Forums structure and 20... 2.4 c

44



Canterbury Mayoral Forum
Date: 25 November 2022

Presented by: Hamish Riach

Regional Strategy (Mayoral Forum’s Plan for Canterbury)

Purpose

1. The purpose of this paper is to propose an approach and timeframe to review and 
update the Mayoral Forum’s Plan for Canterbury to fulfil the requirement to develop a 
regional strategy as noted in clause 15 of the Canterbury Local Authorities’ triennial 
agreement.

Recommendations

That the Canterbury Mayoral Forum: 

1. confirm the vision and values in the 2019-22 Plan for Canterbury remain 
relevant and appropriate for this local government term

2. agree that the strategy should sit separately from the action plan, noting that:

2.1. the strategy would contain vision, values and strategic priority areas 
over the longer term

2.2. the action plan would be developed and reviewed annually 

3. agree to hold a workshop in January 2023 to determine strategic priority 
areas and key actions

4. note that a finalised strategy for this local government term will be brought to 
the Forum for approval in February 2023.

Key points 

2. The Canterbury local authorities’ triennial agreement notes that the Mayoral Forum will 
develop and lead implementation of a sustainable development strategy for Canterbury 
region for the local government triennium 2022–25.

3. The Mayoral Forum’s Plan for Canterbury 2020-2022 (the Plan) fulfilled this requirement 
for the previous triennium and it is considered that the Plan is fundamentally sound as 
the basis for a sustainable development strategy for the 2022-2025 triennium.

4. Updating the Plan is an opportunity to demonstrate the Mayoral Forum’s leadership, 
influence, advocacy and collaboration across the region.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

45



5. A workshop to determine strategic priority areas and key actions for the updated Plan is 
proposed for January 2023.

Background

6. The Plan was developed by the Mayoral Forum through a number of workshops held in 
2019 and 2020. 

7. The 2020-2022 Plan focussed on five priority areas, selected from a long list of twenty 
that were derived from Canterbury 2019: An Overview and the Mayoral Forum 
workshops.

8. The scope of the current Plan covers four interdependent aspects of wellbeing 
(environmental, economic, social and cultural) and the four capitals that enable wellbeing 
(financial/physical, natural, human and social).

9. Canterbury 2022: An Overview (updated from 2019) has been prepared to help inform 
Mayoral Forum priorities and the development of a regional strategy for this triennium.

10. The next three years will likely see the greatest change to local government since 1989 
as a result of the central government reform programme. This provides an opportunity for 
the Mayoral Forum to demonstrate leadership as new ways of working across the region 
are developed.

Mayoral Forum’s Plan for Canterbury 2020-2022 structure

Vision and Values

11. The 2020-2022 vision for Canterbury is “sustainable development with shared prosperity, 
resilient communities and proud identity”. To expand on this the plan further articulates 
the vision as, all of us together:

 care for our natural resources to secure both present and future opportunities
 create shared economic prosperity so no one is left behind
 nurture caring, hope and kindness, standing strong together to withstand and adapt 

to challenges and change
 celebrate our diverse identities – and take pride in our common identity as 

Cantabrians.

12. The vision and values will need to be reconfirmed as still relevant and fit for purpose for 
this term with the 2022-2025 Mayoral Forum.

Priorities

13. The 2020-2022 Plan identified five priority areas. These were: 

 Sustainable environmental management

 Shared economic prosperity

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

46



 Climate change mitigation and adaptation

 Better freight transport options

 Three waters services. 

14. The chief executives consider that three of the five (sustainable environmental 
management, shared economic prosperity and climate change mitigation and 
adaptation) are still relevant for the 2022-2025 triennium as high-level priorities on which 
the Mayoral Forum can focus its leadership, facilitation and advocacy. Chief executives 
proposed that shared economic prosperity be expanded to include both economic and 
social prosperity.

15. The indicators discussed in Canterbury 2022: An Overview would support maintaining 
these specific priorities for the next triennium. 

16. The more specific priorities (better freight transport options and three waters services) 
would, if deemed still relevant, be better placed as actions that contribute to the high-
level priorities. 

Current Context

17. The central government reform programme, climate change and the Forum’s relationship 
with mana whenua are all areas of context to be taken into consideration as the Forum 
considers and develops the 2022-2025 strategy. 

Mana whenua

18. The Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) provides principles and requirements for local 
authorities that intend to recognise and respect the Crown’s responsibility to take 
appropriate account of the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi, and to maintain and 
improve opportunities for Māori to participate in decision-making processes.

19. While the LGA relates to all Māori, Ngāi Tahu has a unique relationship with Canterbury 
councils through Te Tiriti o Waitangi (the Treaty of Waitangi). There are 10 Ngāi Tahu 
Papatipu Rūnanga who hold the mana whenua and mana moana over their respective 
rohe (areas).

20. In addition to the Local Government Act obligations, in the Ngāi Tahu Claims Settlement 
Act 1998 the Crown apologised for its “past failures to acknowledge Ngāi Tahu 
rangatiratanga and mana over the South Island lands within its boundaries”. The Crown 
confirmed that it “recognises Ngāi Tahu as the tāngata whenua of, and as holding 
rangatiratanga within, the Takiwā of Ngāi Tahu Whānui”. This statutory recognition of 
Ngāi Tahu rangatiratanga confirms the special relationship Ngāi Tahu has with the 
natural environment and whenua within the Ngāi Tahu Takiwā. 

21. The Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) recognises Ngāi Tahu interests in ancestral 
lands, water sites, wāhi tapu, flora and fauna, and other taonga as matters of national 
importance. The RMA also requires councils to have particular regard to kaitiakitanga 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

47



and iwi environmental management plans and to take into account the principles of Te 
Tiriti.

22. The resource management reform programme will legislate for mana whenua to be 
represented on regional planning committees and the future for local government review 
draft report explicitly integrates recognition of Te Tiriti and te ao Māori throughout the 
report and recommendations.

Regional governance arrangements

23. There is a strong drive for wide ranging regional governance in the current government 
reforms. The Canterbury Mayoral Forum is considered the lead group to represent the 
region’s input into future governance arrangements.

24. As noted in paragraph 28 below managing the transition periods for reform programmes 
will be an important focus for the next three years and require ongoing regional 
collaboration.

25. The 2022-2025 strategy will be a key document to demonstrate regional leadership and 
collaboration. 

Central government reform

26. Current central government reforms cover a broad range of services and respond to 
matters including water infrastructure, resource management, climate change, 
emergency management and the future for local government.

27. Collectively, the reforms aim to deliver better outcomes for communities and the 
environment, drive efficiency improvements, and give effect to the principles of Te Tiriti o 
Waitangi.

28. Reform of three waters and resource management will require new regional decision 
making and governance arrangements. Managing the transition periods for both of these 
reform programmes will be an important focus for the next three years and require 
ongoing regional collaboration. 

Climate change

29. Responding to climate change is an urgent issue. It is affecting our weather, health and 
wellbeing, natural environment, taonga species, mahinga kai, food production, 
biosecurity, infrastructure and economy.

30. Impacts of climate change are being felt across New Zealand through rising average 
temperatures, increasing frequency of severe storms and flooding in some parts of the 
country and increasing incidence of droughts and wildfires in other places. 

31. Consideration of the impacts of climate change is central to both resource management 
reform and future for local government review. 

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

48



32. Following the release of the Canterbury Climate Change Risk Assessment in 2021, a key 
project for Canterbury for this local government term will be collaborating on climate 
change action planning (see agenda item 4.2).

33. Equally advocating for central government co-investment in river management for flood 
protection (see agenda item 4.5) is one of the responses to climate change impacts that 
the Mayoral Forum can take.

Future for local government

34. The future for local government review was established by the Minister of Local 
Government in April 2021. Its overall purpose is to consider how New Zealand’s system 
of local democracy and governance will need to evolve over the next 30 years to improve 
the wellbeing of New Zealanders, and actively embody the Te Tiriti o Waitangi 
partnership.

35. The review panel produced its first interim report in September 2021. The draft final 
report was released on Friday 28 October, and is open for submission until 28 February 
2022, with the final report to be submitted to the Minister for Local Government in June 
2023 (see agenda item 6.1).

36. With the changes that will occur through the current government reform programme 
(three waters, resource management) it is reasonable to expect that local government 
will evolve over this triennium and beyond.

Proposed 2022-2025 strategy structure

37. It is proposed that the regional strategy for the 2022-2025 triennium (refreshed Plan for 
Canterbury), would set out the Mayoral Forum’s vision and strategic direction, supported 
by a separate annual action plan.

38. An annual action plan would give the Forum greater flexibility to determine where it puts 
its energy and focus across the triennium and mean it can respond in a more agile way 
to uncertain and changing times.

39. The front end of the strategy could focus on the Mayoral Forum’s strong regional 
leadership and collaboration for the benefit of the communities it represents taking into 
consideration the areas of current context raised above.

Proposed strategic priority areas

40. To start the conversation with the Mayoral Forum the following draft priority areas have 
been considered for the new strategy, based on the current Plan and discussions with 
chief executives. Also included are possible areas of action to address the draft priority 
areas. It should be noted that a number of these actions may address multiple priorities.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

49



Climate change

41. Climate change represents significant challenges, risks and opportunities to Canterbury. 
These impacts are already being seen in more frequent droughts, extreme weather 
events and flooding, coastal erosion, increased fire risk and a longer fire season, and 
increasing threats to biodiversity and biosecurity. Opportunities from warmer 
temperatures, a longer growing season and fewer frosts could result in new crops and 
markets.

42. Responding to climate change will have impacts on shared economic and social 
prosperity, sustainable environmental management.

Sustainable environmental management

43. Canterbury is New Zealand’s largest region by land area and has 21% of New Zealand’s 
highest quality soils; 19% of the total area farmed in New Zealand (around 2.6 million 
hectares); around 70% of New Zealand’s groundwater; 64% of the country’s irrigated 
land area and more than 4,700 lakes and tarns and over 78,000 km of rivers and 
streams; 800 km of coastline and 11,620 km2 of coastal marine area.

44. Land use decisions, agricultural intensification and increased urbanisation increases 
pressures on the regions rivers, streams, groundwater aquifers, indigenous biodiversity 
and coasts. 

Shared economic and social prosperity

45. Canterbury’s GDP (March 2021) was $41 billion, which represents 13% of national GDP 
(compared with 17% of land area and 13% of national population). GDP per person was 
just below the national GDP per capita. 

46. In the year ended March 2020 manufacturing contributed 11% of Canterbury’s GDP 
(9.8% nationally) and of this, primary manufacturing contributed 64%, other 
manufacturing 36%.

47. Agriculture contributed 6.7% of regional GDP (4.3% nationally). An analysis of the 
Canterbury economy (excluding Christchurch) notes that agriculture and manufacturing 
are responsible for approximately 32% of employment.

48. Social prosperity is often more difficult to measure. Treasury’s Living Standards 
Framework1 provides a number of indicators that measure wellbeing outcomes that the 
Forum could elect to include in the new strategy, particularly those where local 
government has a significant ability to influence.

49. Local authorities do significant work in the wellbeing/social prosperity space, but what 
would that look like regionally? Would social prosperity be connected and cohesive 
communities? Can the Forum take a leadership role in challenging aspects of society 
(social media etc.) that are trying to undermine cohesion, and what would that look like?

1 Living Standards Framework - Dashboard (treasury.govt.nz)

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

50

https://lsfdashboard.treasury.govt.nz/wellbeing/


Possible areas of action

50. Actions that support the draft priority areas, and allow the Mayoral Forum to demonstrate 
their leadership, advocacy, influence and collaboration could include:

 partnering with mana whenua to develop a regional committee with a structure that 
works for the region, as proposed under the resource management reforms 

 continued oversight of the Canterbury Water Management Strategy

 advocating for central government co-investment in river management for flood 
protection

 oversight of regional climate change action planning 

 advocating for investment in research and development on opportunities for 
diversifying land use

 working across agencies to increase the level of innovation in the primary sector

 review of funding for roading and transport

 attracting new investment and businesses to the region to support our communities.

51. Other areas to explore for inclusion in the action plan include work to enhance regional 
wellbeing and social prosperity in those areas that local government has the ability to 
influence.  

Proposed process to develop a regional strategy for 2023-25

52. Following feedback from today’s meeting, the development of the proposed regional 
strategy will be considered at the upcoming Operations, Corporate, Policy, Economic 
Development and Communications and Engagement Forums. 

53. Feedback from the forums, along with today’s discussion, will be incorporated into the 
proposed workshop to be held January to further develop the priority areas and actions 
to be in a position to bring the regional strategy for the 2022-2025 triennium to the 
February 2023 meeting for approval.

Cost, compliance and communication

Financial implications 

54. The current regional forums budget allows a total of $15,000 for the refresh of the 
Mayoral Forum’s Plan for Canterbury, which includes allocation for research, workshops, 
engagement and production. If a different approach is required further funding may be 
needed.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

51



Communication

55. Following agreement on the approach for developing the 2022-2025 strategy a 
communications and engagement plan will be developed, in conjunction with chief 
executives and Mayoral Forum members. The communications and engagement plan 
will identify key stakeholders, approach for engagement and be based on the Mayoral 
Forum’s communication strategy.

Next steps

56. This paper, including feedback from today’s meeting, will be shared with members of the 
Operations, Corporate, Policy, Economic Development and Communications and 
Engagement forums at their December meetings.

57. Feedback from today’s meeting and the regional forums will be incorporated into the 
Mayoral Forum workshop proposed to be held in January to further progress the 
development of the regional strategy.

Canterbury Mayoral Forum - 25 Nov 2022 Regional Strategy (Mayoral Foru... 4.1 a

52


